

Report of the fourth meeting of the European Environment and Health Ministerial Board (EHMB)

Belgrade, Serbia 19 April 2013



Report of the fourth meeting of the European Environment and Health Ministerial Board (EHMB)

Belgrade, Serbia 19 April 2013

Abstract

At its fourth meeting, (Belgrade, Serbia, 19 April 2013), the European Environment and Health Ministerial Board (EHMB) discussed its report to the 63rd session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe and the 19th session of the UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy; reviewed recent scientific evidence on air quality and health; expressed support for the revision of WHO air quality guidelines and the EU air quality policy, and decided to develop a statement urging all States to ratify and/or strengthen their implementation of MEAs in synergy with the Parma commitments and to promote the engagement of youth in national processes for environment and health. The EHMB agreed that its representatives would attend the ministerial segments of the Third Meeting of the Parties to the Protocol on Water and Health (Oslo, 25-27 November 2013) and the Fourth High Level Meeting on Transport, Environment and Health (Paris, 14-16 April 2014).

Keywords

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY – trends CONGRESSES EUROPE

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications

WHO Regional Office for Europe

UN City

Marmorvej 51

DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø

Denmark

Alternatively complete online requests form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the WHO/Europe web site at http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest.

© World Health Organization 2013

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use. The views expressed by authors, editors, or expert groups do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
Opening of the meeting, adoption of the agenda	4
Introduction	4
Agenda item 1: Election of a Co-Chair from among the Ministers of Environment	5
Agenda item 2: Adoption of the report of the 3 rd EHMB meeting	5
Agenda item 4: Follow-up to previous decisions	5
Agenda item 5: Review and adoption of the report on the European Environment and Health	
Process 2010-2012 to the WHO Regional Committee and UNECE Committee on	
Environmental Policy	7
Agenda item 6: Air quality in Europe	9
Agenda item 7: Multilateral environmental agreements as tools for implementation of Parma	
commitments - upcoming major events and meetings - THE PEP High Level meeting, Paris,	
2014 and Water and Health Protocol Meeting of Parties, Oslo 2013	10
Agenda item 8: Any other business	11
Closure of the session	11
Annex 1. Scope and purpose	12
Annex 2. Programme of work	13
Annex 3. Main points of discussion and decisions	15
Annex 4. List of participants	17

Acknowledgements

The fourth meeting of the European Environment and Health Ministerial Board was generously hosted by the Government of Serbia.

Opening of the meeting, adoption of the agenda

Introduction

- 1. The European Environment and Health Ministerial Board (EHMB) held its fourth meeting on 19 April 2013 in Belgrade, Serbia, at the kind invitation of the Government of Serbia. See Annex 1 for the scope and purpose of the meeting, Annex 2 for the programme of work, Annex 3 for the main points of discussion and decisions and Annex 4 for the list of participants.
- 2. Ms Zsuzsanna Jakab, WHO Regional Director for Europe, welcomed participants and thanked the Government of Serbia for its generous hospitality. She informed the meeting that new members had been appointed from Belgium, Israel, Republic of Moldova and Ukraine, representing the environment sector. Ms Jakab also introduced the agenda of the meeting, proposing that item 3 should be deleted, and proposed the Chair and Co-Chair for the meeting.
- 3. The meeting agreed to delete item 3 of the provisional agenda (document EURO/EHMB4.2 Add.1). With that amendment, the agenda was adopted.
- 4. Professor Slavica Đukić Dejanović, Minister of Health of Serbia, was elected Chair and chaired the discussion of agenda items 1-5.
- 5. Professor Đukić Dejanović opened the meeting and welcomed participants to Serbia. Her country actively supported the work of the Ministerial Board and was committed to strengthening public health in accordance with WHO policy guidelines. The Government had recently set up a new coordinating body which would incorporate a health-in-all-policies approach into the work of all ministries. The main challenges facing it were environmental and geopolitical factors, social determinants of health and lifestyle factors.
- 6. The main objectives of the meeting were: (1) to review the strategic direction of the European environment and health process and its priorities and key milestones in 2013–2014, and review and adopt the final draft of the EHMB report to the WHO Regional Committee for Europe and the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) Committee on Environmental Policy (CEP); (2) to consider the latest evidence on the effects of air pollution on health in the context of the European Year of Air 2013, review developments in the revision of WHO guidelines and the European Union policy on air quality, and agree on the role that EHMB could play to further the commitments related to air pollution made at the Fifth Ministerial Conference (Parma, Italy, 10-12 March 2010); and (3) to discuss forthcoming meetings under multilateral environmental agreements and policy platforms relevant to the implementation of the Parma commitments, in order to maximize synergy between these processes and the European environment and health process.
- 7. Professor Zorana Mihajlović, Minister of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection of Serbia, addressed the meeting. As a candidate member of the European Union, Serbia was anxious to meet the Union's environmental standards, and it had participated in the preparation of the Global Plan of Action for Children's Health and

the Environment. However, considerable investment in infrastructure would be required before it could comply with European Union directives. Joint action by the environment and health sectors was essential to secure political support, implement relevant decisions and facilitate collaboration with the United Nations and European Union.

- 8. Ms Zsusanna Jakab, WHO Regional Director for Europe, commended Board members on their active support for the agreed intersessional programme of work and, in particular, for their guidance on the preparation of the joint report to the Regional Committee and CEP. The current meeting was of great importance for the European environment and health process, since the joint report and draft resolution/decision would help to define activities in the area of environment and health until the Sixth Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health in 2016 and the priorities thereafter.
- 9. The issue of air quality provides a prime example of the importance of making the best possible use of scientific developments and existing policy tools. In 2013, the European Year of Air, many EHMB Member States are engaged in the consultations accompanying the process of revision of European Union air quality policies. Air quality is a powerful example of the interactions and tensions between science and policy. Policy-makers must bear in mind the need to protect the public interest and, in particular, the interests of the most vulnerable population groups. Transboundary issues such as air quality cannot be addressed solely at the local or national level, but require international collaboration, solidarity and accountability. The Board can play a very useful role, particularly by supporting effective policies to address air quality issues and the resulting burden of disease, promoting the implementation of existing policy instruments, and advocating the implementation of policies that reduce air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions and also deliver health benefits. The EHMB can also advocate and be a champion in the pursuit of relevant synergies with other processes and instruments and in promoting coordination with national efforts.

Agenda item 1: Election of a Co-Chair from among the Ministers of Environment

10. Mr Amir Peretz, Minister of Environmental Protection of Israel, was elected Co-Chair, representing the environment sector, and chaired the discussion of agenda items 6-8. He addressed the meeting, describing the serious injuries he had sustained while serving in the Israeli army, his long period of recovery during which he had vowed to work for peace, his subsequent rise to the posts of Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Defence, and his even wider responsibilities now as Minister of Environmental Protection, which covered not only land, sea and air but the areas above and below them, and required him to serve both Israel's national interests and its international obligations. He hoped to work with Israel's neighbours to safeguard the regional environment and promote peace and social and environmental justice.

Agenda item 2: Adoption of the report of the 3rd EHMB meeting

11. The report of the third EHMB meeting (document EURO/EHMB4.6) was adopted without amendment.

Agenda item 4: Follow-up to previous decisions

12. Dr Srdan Matic, Coordinator, Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe, likewise expressing his appreciation for the hospitality of the Government of Serbia and the excellent preparatory work done by officials from the Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection,

introduced the Secretariat report on the follow-up to the decisions taken at the third meeting (EURO/EHMB4.7). In respect of statutory affairs, four new EHMB members had been elected to represent the environment sector, and nominations had been invited for new health-sector members, to be elected at the sixty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee in September 2013. Two Serbian representatives of the European Environment and Health Youth Coalition, a permanent observer to the Board, were present at the meeting. All Board members had appointed alternates, who had held a fruitful meeting in Bonn, Germany in March 2013 (see document EURO/EHMB4.1). Ms Jakab had met representatives of the Directorate-General for the Environment of the European Commission, also in March 2013, to discuss the responsibility for environment and health issues within the Commission.

- 13. In respect of technical and strategic matters, the development of the Environment and Health Gateway and the setting of priorities for the environment and health process were both well under way; further guidance on those issues from EHMB members would be welcome. A meeting on the engagement of international financial mechanisms in the environment and health process would be held by the end of 2013. The working group on the health impact of climate change and the chemical safety network had both met in 2012. The economics of environmental health network would hold its first meeting soon.
- 14. The intersessional programme of work had proceeded well so far. As well as the meeting of EHMB alternates, a first informal round of talks had been held with non-Member-State stakeholders. However, the communications network which EHMB had called for at its third meeting was proving slow to get off the ground: only nine Member States had joined it so far. A meeting was planned for later in 2013.
- 15. Dr Tomaž Gantar, Minister of Health of Slovenia, recalled that, during his country's chairmanship of the Board, he had pointed to the need to encourage international financial institutions to invest in projects which had an impact on human health. He had prepared an overview of European Union financial instruments from which funding might be available in the period 2014-2020 if the necessary preparations were undertaken immediately. He called upon EHMB members to lobby actively for the Parma objectives to be taken into account in the preparation of European Union financial instruments over the next few months; to support the Secretariat in establishing high-level contacts within the European Commission, particularly with the Directorate-General for Enlargement and the Directorate-General for Development and Cooperation EuropeAid; and to use their influence with other WHO Member States to promote the inclusion of priorities related to the Parma commitments in their national development strategies.
- 16. Mr Alexander Nies, Co-Chair of the European Environment and Health Task Force (EHTF), expressed concern that, at a point halfway between the Fifth Ministerial Conference, held in Parma, Italy in 2010, and the next, scheduled for 2016, there was still no consensus about the priorities to be pursued among the numerous commitments adopted at Parma. It had been suggested early on that the five time-bound commitments should be taken as priorities, but still no firm decision had been taken. He called upon the Board to make a final decision as soon as possible, and certainly before the mid-term review scheduled for 2014.
- 17. An intersessional programme of work for the Board was indispensable, since Ministers could only meet once a year at most. It must, however, be clearly defined, stating exactly what action was to be taken, by whom, and by what deadline, and

- issued promptly, within two weeks of the meeting. This was of particular importance for the Task Force, whose members only rarely met in person.
- 18. He was concerned that the respective roles and responsibilities of the Board and the Task Force had still not been precisely defined. A clear, concise description, to be prepared by the Secretariat, was essential if the two bodies were to work effectively together.
- 19. Unfortunately, the late distribution of the documentation for the current meeting had made it very difficult to carry out the necessary internal consultations with other national ministries. He hoped that documentation would be distributed within the prescribed deadlines in future.
- 20. Dr Matic thanked Dr Gantar for his proactive approach to making contact with international financial mechanisms. The Board had no mandate to set priorities among the Parma commitments. The time-bound commitments were the only ones which might be considered as priorities: the others were all considered of equal importance, and the Board had no authority to renegotiate them. He would welcome guidance from the Board about the intersessional programme of work: for instance, would it prefer a one-year programme, (i.e. a programme of work between two consecutive sessions of the EHMB) or a three-year programme (i.e. a programme continuing until the sixth Ministerial Conference)? The respective roles of the Board and the Task Force were, he believed, clear in principle, from the institutional framework document issued at the Parma Conference (Conference document EUR/55934/7), but it was not yet clear how responsibilities would be divided up in practice.
- 21. Ms Jakab said that, in a meeting between herself and the Director-General for the Environment of the European Commission, the latter had stated that the Commission's priorities in the environment and health field were consistent with the Board's own. However, it was still not clear which Directorate-General was now responsible for activities in that field, which had previously been the responsibility of the Directorate-General for Health and Consumer Protection. Further follow-up with the Commission was required.
- 22. She suggested that the Chair and Co-Chair of the Board, as well as the Secretariat, should approach potential sources of funding, particularly those concerned with drinking-water and air quality and climate change. The Chair and Co-Chair could also represent the Board's interests in the financing dialogue which would take place within WHO in June and October 2013.
- 23. As she understood it, the Board had decided at its third meeting to leave the Parma priorities unchanged, but to draw up a new set of priorities for adoption by the Sixth Ministerial Conference. She had also understood that the intersessional programme of work was intended only to implement the decisions taken at Board meetings, and would therefore be a programme of work between two consecutive sessions of the Board.
- 24. She apologized for the late distribution of the documentation and said that every effort would be made to avoid delays in future.

Agenda item 5: Review and adoption of the report on the European Environment and Health Process 2010-2012 to the WHO Regional Committee and UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy

25. Dr Matic introduced the draft report to be submitted by the Board to the 63rd session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe in September 2013 and the 19th session

of the CEP in October 2013, and asked for members' comments. The same report would be submitted to both bodies. It was in two parts: a short report entitled *Strengthening the implementation of the Parma Declaration on environment and health: a forward looking pathway*, (document EURO/EHMB4.8a) and a longer information document (document EURO/EHMB4.8c). The information document provided more detail, although at present it dealt mostly with WHO Secretariat activities: he would welcome guidance about ways of reflecting the activities of other stakeholders.

- 26. He also invited the Board to consider a draft resolution/decision on implementation of the European environment and health process, to be submitted to the Regional Committee (document EURO/EHMB4.8b) and the proposed schedule of elections to the Board (Document EURO/EHMB4.8d). One-and-a-half hours had been set aside for consideration of the item on environment and health at the Regional Committee, with statements by the Chair and Co-Chair of the Board followed by a discussion among a panel of experts and policy-makers.
- 27. The short report summarized the implementation of the European environment and health process to date and the challenges facing it, described the implementation of the Parma commitments so far and considered future directions in environment and health. The challenges facing the process included ensuring equality of engagement by both the health and the environment sectors and increasing the involvement of non-Member-State stakeholders, promoting stronger implementation at the national level, ensuring that the respective roles of the Board and the Task Force were fully understood and ensuring sustainable and predictable funding. The final section of the report dealt with the proposed future work for the environment and health process, including the proposal to emphasize implementation of the time-bound Parma commitments and further discussion of priorities for the post-2016 period; the exploitation of synergies with existing policy frameworks and multilateral environmental agreements; the inclusion of safe and sustainable environments in national environmental and health policies; environmental issues in the health sector; and the provision of predictable and sustainable funding.
- 28. Mr Marco Keiner, Director, Environment Division, UNECE, welcomed the proposal that a joint report should be submitted to both the Regional Committee and CEP. Since the meetings of the two bodies were scheduled so close together, the EHMB Secretariat might wish to submit an oral, rather than a written, report to the CEP meeting on the outcome of deliberations at the Regional Committee. He called upon the Board members representing the environment sector to provide more information on environmental aspects for inclusion in the report.
- 29. Mr Nies noted two further challenges which should be included in the report: no date or venue had yet been fixed for the next meeting of the Task Force, and the post of Head of the WHO European Centre for Environment and Health in Bonn, Germany had been vacant since the departure of Dr Michal Krzyzanowski in August 2012. He noted further that a joint Conference of the Parties of three major multilateral environmental agreements, the Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions, was due to begin in Geneva on 28 April, which could provide a valuable opportunity for the Board to raise awareness of environment and health issues among the assembled ministers.
- 30. Dr Matic said that a meeting of the Task Force, whose membership was far larger than that of the Board, required considerable resources in terms of money, time and organization. The Secretariat, in consultation with the Chair and Co-Chair, had

- considered a number of solutions, including smaller, informal meetings and an intersessional programme of work.
- 31. Ms Jakab invited UNECE to participate in the Regional Committee meeting, and said that she expected to appoint a new Head of the WHO European Centre for Environment and Health in the next few months. Dr Matic was acting Head in the meantime.

Agenda item 6: Air quality in Europe

- 32. Dr Elizabet Paunovic, Programme Manager, Environmental Exposures and Risks, WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, introduced the report on air quality in Europe (document EURO/EHMB4.9 and Annex 1). The Parma Declaration includes provisions related to air quality, and the report of the fifteenth meeting of the Joint Task Force on the Health Aspects of Air Pollution (UNECE document ECE/EB.AIR/WG.1/2012/11) indicates that levels of particulate matter (PM10/PM2.5¹) are still increasing, especially in eastern and south-eastern Europe. The Gothenburg Protocol to the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution was revised in 2012 to include emission reduction commitments for PM2.5, with some flexibility allowed for countries in southern and eastern Europe, the Caucasus and central Asia. She called upon Board members to encourage as many Member States as possible to accede to the revised protocol.
- 33. As part of the Year of Air in 2013, the European Union is revising its air policies. WHO is contributing to the project through a systematic review of scientific evidence on air quality the Review of Evidence on Health Aspects of Air Pollution (REVIHAAP) and Health Risks of Air Pollution in Europe (HRAPIE) projects. The research shows clear evidence of a link between PM2.5 levels and rates of cardiovascular disease, but also shows that even a slight reduction in PM2.5 levels reduces the health risks.
- 34. She called upon Board members to promote compliance with European Union directives, the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution and WHO standards; to lobby for the introduction/revision of air quality policies where they are inadequate; to support the European Union's air quality policies and the revised WHO air quality guidelines; to encourage Member States to accede to or ratify the Convention and its protocols; and to lobby other sectors to adapt their policies in a way which promotes air quality improvement.
- 35. Dr Michal Krzyzanowski, Temporary Adviser, introduced two information documents available on the WHO Web site: *Health effects of particulate matter: Policy implications for countries in eastern Europe, Caucasus and Central Asia* and the first results of the REVIHAAP project. He gave details of a number of studies providing increasingly strong evidence of a connection between PM2.5 levels and increased rates of cardiovascular disease. The increase in life expectancy which would result from a reduction in PM2.5 levels to meet the WHO recommended guideline values was estimated at around nine months. Measures to reduce levels of common air pollutants such as methane and black carbon (a component of PM10) would not only bring short-term health benefits, but would also help to mitigate the effects of climate change.
- 36. The evidence provides scientific arguments for decisive action to improve air quality and reduce the burden of disease associated with air pollution in Europe. He called

¹ i.e. PM less than 10 μm or 2.5 μm in diameter, respectively.

- upon Board members to advocate stronger action to introduce and/or revise policies for air pollution control and monitoring of exposure; to promote measures to assure compliance with current European directives on air quality; and to support the current updating of European Union policies in line with the WHO air quality guidelines.
- 37. In the ensuing discussion, participants supported the call for all Member States to ratify the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution and its protocols and stressed the need for intersectoral collaboration. Member States should collaborate in the monitoring of air quality and its health impact, and harmonize their climate and energy policies. The representative of the Republic of Moldova noted that the air quality standards in force are often outdated and cumbersome: his country is seeking to achieve compliance with the European Union standards and has acceded to the Convention, but not the protocols as yet, as it lacks a cost-effective way to implement them and a countrywide, automated monitoring system. Mr Keiner noted the potential for collaboration with the Transport, Health and Environment Pan-European Programme (THE PEP) in the reduction of diesel exhaust emissions, which have already been identified as a carcinogen, but are now also associated with cardiovascular disease.
- 38. Dr Matic suggested that the Board might wish to draw up an agreed position statement or call to action on air quality and/or call upon non-European-Union Member States to accede to the Convention. It could also emphasize the long-term benefits of improvements in air quality in terms of mitigating climate change, in addition to the positive short-term benefits to health.

Agenda item 7: Multilateral environmental agreements as tools for implementation of Parma commitments – upcoming major events and meetings – THE PEP High Level meeting, Paris, 2014 and Water and Health Protocol Meeting of Parties, Oslo 2013

- 39. Ms Francesca Racioppi, Senior Policy and Programme Adviser, Environment and Health Governance and Partnerships, WHO Regional Office for Europe, gave details of two forthcoming meetings: the Third Meeting of the Parties of the Protocol on Water and Health to the 1992 Convention on the Protection and Use of Transboundary Watercourses and International Lakes (Oslo, Norway, 25-27 November 2013) and the Fourth High Level Meeting on Transport, Health and Environment of THE PEP (Paris, France, 14-16 April 2014), on the theme "City in motion people first!". The Board might wish to participate in the high-level segments of both meetings; make suggestions about ways to increase the appeal of these meetings to a high-level political audience; encourage high-level political participation by other ministers; and call for the signature and ratification of the Protocol on Water and Health and the use of the protocol and THE PEP to further national implementation of the Parma Declaration.
- 40. Mr Nies said that the Board could make contact with the Parties to many other environmental agreements, such as the Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions and the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, explaining how measures such as the inclusion of chrysotile asbestos on the list of hazardous substances covered by the Rotterdam Convention could contribute to the aims of the Parma Declaration.
- 41. Mr Peretz briefly suspended the meeting to allow EHMB members to deliberate informally on the best way to address the proposed call to action in relation to multilateral environmental agreements. The Board decided to request the Secretariat to draft, within one month, a statement on behalf of the Ministerial Board to

encourage Member States to consider promoting and advancing multilateral environmental agreements and policies of special relevance to the Parma commitments and to develop specific actions to engage youth organizations in their national programmes for environment and health. It also requested the Secretariat to report regularly on progress in this matter.

Agenda item 8: Any other business

42. A representative of the European Environment and Health Youth Coalition drew attention to the publication *Young and physically active: a blueprint for making physical activity appealing to youth* (available on the WHO Web site), which had been launched at the first meeting of the Coalition in Florence, Italy, in October 2012.

Closure of the session

- 43. Mr Peretz read out a summary of the main conclusions and decisions of the meeting. The Board adopted the conclusions and decisions, which are reproduced in Annex 3.
- 44. Ms Jakab, summing up the day's discussions, thanked the officers and participants of the meeting, and looked forward to close and fruitful collaboration with the Chair and Co-Chair in the intersessional period. The proactive approach of Board members would help to guarantee the sustainability of the Board beyond the next Ministerial Conference.
- 45. Mr Peretz declared the meeting closed at 15:55 on 19 April 2013.

Annex 1. Scope and purpose

The fourth meeting of the European Environment and Health Ministerial Board (EHMB) is being convened in consultation with the co-chairs of the EHMB, in accordance with Rule 5 of its Rules of Procedure.

At its third meeting in Baku, Azerbaijan, on 16 November 2012, the EHMB discussed setting priorities within the European Environment and Health Process. It also approved the structure of its draft report to the WHO Regional Committee for Europe (RC) and the UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy (CEP), and decided to continue working on it in an intersessional process.

In line with the decisions adopted by the third meeting, EHMB members were invited to appoint alternates to support the implementation of the intersessional work, and make progress in the preparation of the sixty-third session of the WHO RC, to be held in Izmir, Turkey, on 16-19 September 2013, and of the nineteenth UNECE CEP, to be held in Geneva, Switzerland, on 22-25 October 2013. The first meeting of the EHMB alternates will take place in Bonn on 7 March, 2013, to finalize the draft EHMB report and prepare the fourth meeting of the EHMB.

The main purpose of the fourth EHMB meeting is to review the strategic direction of the European Environment and Health Process (EHP), its priorities and key milestones in 2013–2014 and as part of the review and adoption of the final draft of the EHMB Report to the WHO Regional Committee for Europe and the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) Committee on Environmental Policy (CEP). The meeting will include discussions on the organization of events on environment and health at the forthcoming sessions of the RC and CEP.

In addition, and with reference to the policy and communication initiatives that mark 2013 as the "European Year of Air", the EHMB will be briefed on the latest evidence on the effects of air pollution on health, as well as on developments in the revision of WHO guidelines and the European Union policy on air quality, to identify and agree on the role that the EHMB could play in this context to further the Parma commitments related to air pollution.

Finally, the EHMB will also discuss forthcoming meetings under multilateral environmental agreements and policy platforms relevant to the implementation of the Parma Conference commitments, in order to maximize synergy between these processes and the European Environment and Health Process.

Annex 2. Programme of work

08:45-09:00 09:00-09:20

09:20 - 10:00

10:00-10:30 10:30-11:30

11:30 - 13:00

Registration

Opening of the meeting, adoption of the agenda, election of Co-Chairs

Relevant documents:

- 1. Scope and purpose
- 2. Provisional agenda
- 3. Provisional programme
- 4. Provisional list of participants
- 5. Deleted

Adoption of the report of the 3rd EHMB meeting, Baku, November 2012 and follow-up to previous decisions

Relevant documents:

6. Draft report of the 3rd EHMB meeting,

Baku, November 2012

7. Secretariat report on follow-up to previous decisions

Coffee/tea break and press event Draft report on the European environment and health process 2010-2013 to the WHO Regional Committee and UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy

Introduction by the Secretariat

Relevant documents:

8. EHMB and EHTF reporting to WHO and UNECE governing bodies

a. Final draft of the WHO RC63 working paper:

Strengthening the implementation of the Parma Declaration on Environment and Health: a forward looking pathway

b. Final draft of the WHO RC63 working document:

RC63 Resolution/decision on Environment and Health

c. Final draft of the WHO RC63 <u>other</u> document:

Report on the European Environment and Health Process (2010-2013) to the WHO Regional Committee and UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy d. Proposed schedule for EHMB elections

General discussion on the draft report on the European Environment and

	Health Process 2010-2013 to the WHO
	Regional Committee and UNECE
	Committee on Environmental Policy
13:00 – 14:00	Lunch
14:00 - 15:00	Environment and Health Policy
	Priorities in the WHO European
	Region: Air Quality
	Relevant documents:
	9. Air quality in Europe
15:00 – 15:30	Coffee/tea break
15:30 – 15:50	Multilateral Environment Agreements as
	Tools for Implementation of Parma
	commitments
	Relevant documents:
	10. Forthcoming high level meetings of the
	Protocol on Water and Health and of the
	Transport, Environment and Health Pan-
	European Programme
15:50 – 16:00	Any other business and closure of the
	meeting

Annex 3. Main points of discussion and decisions

The EHMB:

- Adopted the report of the 3rd EHMB Meeting;
- Welcomed the Slovenian proposal for the EHMB to play a role in ensuring that the Parma Commitments are included among the priorities selected for financial support by the EU through its financial instruments as part of the intersessional programme of work, and thanked Slovenia for preparing an overview of EC financial instruments that could be of particular relevance for infrastructural initiatives.
- Welcomed the RD proposal for the EHMB Co-Chairs to participate in the forthcoming financing dialogues that the WHO will organize to discuss priorities for funding (next one expected in October 2013);
- Decided to continue seeking clarification on the responsibility for the Environment and Health Process within the European Commission, and entrusted the RD with following up with DG SANCO and DG ENV;
- Agreed to implement the intersessional programme of work as a useful means to facilitate follow-up on decisions between two consecutive sessions of the EHMB;
- Welcomed the engagement of the European Environment and Health Youth Coalition as a permanent observer in the EHMB.

Regarding the reporting to the RC63 and CEP19, the EHMB:

- Decided to have the same documents for submission to both RC63 and CEP19, and to revise them in light of the perspectives of both WHO and UNECE Governing Bodies;
- Entrusted the WHO and UNECE Secretariat with reviewing the papers 4.8a "Strengthening the implementation of the Parma Declaration on environment and health: a forward looking pathway" and 4.8 c "Report on the European Environment and Health Process (2010-2013) to the WHO Regional Committee and UNECE Committee on Environmental Policy" to strengthen their relevance to the environment constituency and in view of their submission to the CEP;
- Decided to submit a report to the CEP (in writing and/or orally) on the outcomes of the RC63;
- Noted the proposals for amendments to the paper 4.8a submitted by the Environment Co-Chair of the EHTF:

Regarding the discussion on air quality and health, the EHMB:

- Noted with appreciation the presentation of the most recent and compelling scientific evidence of the important effects of air quality on the health of the European population, which uncovers an important gap between scientific knowledge and policy action;
- Supported the proposal for the EHMB to advocate the consideration of health protection in relevant policy fora, for example through EHMB statements delivered to relevant bodies/policy platforms;
- Emphasized in particular its support for:

- o the WHO to initiate the revision of its 2005 air quality guidelines to reflect the evidence emerging from the recent research;
- o compliance with existing EU regulations and for the EU air quality policy revision process;
- o ratification of the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution even by countries that are not yet able to comply fully with the Convention;

Regarding the discussion on Multilateral Environment Agreements as tools for implementation of Parma commitments, the EHMB:

- Noted with appreciation the preparations for the third session of the Meeting of the Parties to the Protocol on Water and Health (Oslo, 25-27 November 2013) and the fourth High Level Meeting on Transport, Environment and Health (Paris, 14-16 April 2014), respectively.
- Highlighted the importance of making use of tools that have been developed by these processes to support national action;
- Agreed that an EHMB representative should participate in the ministerial segments of these meetings;
- Requested the Secretariat to draft within a month a statement on behalf of the Ministerial Board to:
 - o Encourage MS to consider promoting and advancing in particular the following multilateral environmental agreements and policies:
 - Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution;
 - Protocol on Water and Health
 - Rotterdam Convention, with respect to the proposal to include chrysotile asbestos in its Annex III
 - Minamata Convention on Mercury
 - Transport, Health and Environment Pan-European Programme;
 - o Call on all MSs to develop concrete actions to engage youth organizations in their national programmes for environment and health, and requests the Secretariat to report regularly on progress in this matter;
- Decided to engage the EHMB Co-Chairs in the drafting of agenda items for discussion at forthcoming EHMB meetings.

Annex 4. List of participants

BELGIUM

Mr Dominique Perrin, EHMB alternate

International Policy Advisor

Walloon Minister for the Environment, Land Settlement and Mobility

Rue des Brigades d'Irlande, n° 4, Jambes (Namur) 5100, Belgium

Mr Francis Brancart

Director of Environmental Policy

Wallonian Region Directorate General for Agriculture, Natural Resources and the Environment (DGARNE)

Avenue Prince de Liège, 15, Namur B-1500, Belgium

FRANCE

Mr Charles Saout, EHMB alternate

Deputy Director, Subdirectorate of Prevention of Risks linked to Environment and Food Ministry of Social Affairs and Health

14 avenue Duquesne, 75350 Paris 07 SP, France

ISRAEL

Mr Amir Peretz, EHMB member

Minister of Environmental Protection

Ministry of Environmental Protection

P.O. Box 34033, 95464 Jerusalem, Israel

Dr Sinaia Netanyahu, EHMB alternate

Chief Scientist

Ministry of Environmental Protection of Israel

P.O. Box 34033, 95464 Jerusalem, Israel

Ms Galit Cohen

Senior Deputy Director General

Planning and Sustainable development

Ministry of Environmental Protection

Kanfei Nesharim 5, Jerusalem 95464, Israel

Dr Itamar Grotto

Director

Public Health Services

Ministry of Health

20 King David St, PO box 1176, 91010 Jerusalem, Israel

MALTA

Dr Ray Busuttil, EHMB alternate

Director General

Public Health Regulation Division

Ministry for Social Policy

Palazzo Castellania, 15 Merchants Street, Valletta VLT 2000, Malta

REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA

Mr Gheorghe Salaru, EHMB member

Minister of Environment

Ministry of Environment

9, Cosmonautilor str., Chisinau, Republic of Moldova

Ms Maria Nagornii, EHMB alternate

Head of Policy Analysis, Monitoring and Assessment Department Ministry of Environment

9, Cosmonautilor str., Chisinau, Republic of Moldova

SERBIA

Prof Slavica Dukic Dejanovic, EHMB member

Minister of Health

Ministry of Health

Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Prof Zorana Mihajlovic

Minister of Energy

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection

Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Prof Vladimir Dukic, EHMB alternate

State Secretary

Ministry of Health

Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

SLOVENIA

Dr Tomaž Gantar, EHMB member

Minister of Health

Ministry of Health

Stefanova 5, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Dr Marta Ciraj, Alternate

Secretary, EU Affairs and International Relations Office

Ministry of Health

Stefanova 5, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Ms Mia Marasovic

Head of the Minister's Office

Ministry of Health

Stefanova 5, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Dr Pia Vracko, Delegate

Physician, National Institute of Public Health

Trubarjeva 2, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

UNECE

Mr Marco Keiner, Alternate

Director, Environment Division

United Nations Economic Commission for Europe

Office 334, Palais des Nations, CH-1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland

UNEP

Mr Wondwosen K. Asnake, EHMB alternate

UNEP/Regional Office for Europe

Major Groups and Stakeholders Partnerships

11-13 Chemin des Anémones, CH-1219 Châtelaine, Geneva, Switzerland

WHO Regional Office for Europe

Ms Zsuzsanna Jakab, EHMB member

Regional Director

Dr Srdan Matic, Delegate

Coordinator, Environment and Health

Ms Francesca Racioppi

Senior Policy and Programme Adviser

Environment and Health Governance and Partnerships

Dr Guénaël Rodier

Director, Division of Communicable Diseases, Health Security and Environment

EHMB Ex-officio members

Dr Krunoslav Capak, EHTF Chair

Deputy Director,

Head of Service

Croatian National Institute of Public Health

Rockefellerova, 7, 10 000 Zagreb, Croatia

Mr Alexander Nies, EHTF Co-Chair

Head of Directorate

Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety Robert-Schuman-Platz 3, D-53175 Bonn, Germany

GERMANY (Observer Member State)

Dr Birgit Wolz

Head of Division IG II 2

Environment and Health

Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety Robert-Schuman-Platz 3, D-53175 Bonn, Germany

Ms Karin Höppner

Referee

Federal Ministry of Health

Basic Issues of Prevention, Self-help and Environmental Health Protection

Rochusstr. 1, 53123 Bonn Germany

EUROPEAN ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTH YOUTH COALITION (Observer)

Ms Jovana Dodos

European Environment and Health Youth Coalition Bulevar despota Stefana 86, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Mr Danilo Arsenijevic

European Environment and Health Youth Coalition Jevrema Markovica 7, 34000 Kragujevac, Serbia

OBSERVERS

MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF SERBIA

Periša Simonovic,

State Secretary

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Simo Vukovic,

State Secretary

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Miloš Jeftovic,

State Secretary

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Professor Berislav Vekic,

Assistant Minister

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Ana Vuksanovic,

Chief of cabinet

Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Svetlana Vrga,

Special advisor for international cooperation Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Biljana Šuša,

Special advisor for public relations Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Nataša Durašinovic,

International Cooperation Group Manager Ministry of Health of the Republic of Serbia Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

MINISTRY OF ENERGY, DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION Dejan Popovic,

State Secretary

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Dejan Novakovic,

State Secretary

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Marija Blecic,

Chief of cabinet

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Hranislav Stojkovic,

Assistant Minister

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Mirko Grubišic,

Assistant Minister

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Leposava Sojic,

Assistant Minister

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Toni Petrovic,

Special Advisor

Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Miroslav Tadic,

Department for EU Integration and International Cooperation Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Tatjana Jovanovic,

Department for EU Integration and International Cooperation Ministry of Energy, Development and Environmental Protection Nemanjina str. 22-26, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

MINISTRY OF NATURAL RESOURCES, MININGS AND SPATIAL PLANNING Biljana Filipovic,

National focal point for Environment and Health Ministry of Natural Resources, Mining and Spatial Planning Nemanjina str. 11, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Biljana Jovanovic Ilic,

Coordinator of the process Protocol on Water and Health Ministry of Natural Resources, Mining and Spatial Planning Nemanjina str. 11, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERBIA - BATUT Dragan Ilic,

Director of Institute of Public Health of Serbia Dr Subotica str. 5, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

Bratislava Matic,

National Focal Point for Environment and Health Institute of Public Health of Serbia Dr Subotica str. 5, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS BASED IN BELGRADE William Infante

United Nations Resident Coordinator Internacionalnih brigada 69, 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia

WHO Regional Office for Europe (Secretariat)

Dr Miljana Grbic

Head of the Country Office Belgrade, Serbia

Dr Michal Krzyzanowski

Temporary Adviser

Dr Elizabet Paunovic

Programme Manager, Environmental Exposures and Risks Bonn, Germany

Ms Teresa Lander, Rapporteur

Bristol, UK

Ms Geraldine McWeeney

Technical Officer Belgrade, Serbia

Ms Julia Solovieva

Project Officer, Environment and Health Governance and Partnerships Copenhagen, Denmark

Ms Helena Vuksanovic

Administrative Assistant Belgrade, Serbia

The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania

Andorra

Armenia

Austria

Azerbaijan

Belgium

Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria

Croatia

Czech Republic

Denmark

Estonia Finland

France

Georgia

Germany

Hungary

Iceland

Ireland

Israel

Italy Kazakhstan

Kyrgyzstan

Lithuania

Luxembourg

Malta

Monaco

Montenegro

Netherlands

Norway

Poland

Portugal

Republic of Moldova Romania

Russian Federation San Marino

Serbia

Slovakia Slovenia

Spain

Sweden

Switzerland Tajikistan

The former Yugoslav

Republic of Macedonia

Turkmenistan

Ukraine

United Kingdom

Uzbekistan

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

Marmovej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: 45 45 33 70 01 E-mail: postmaster@euro.who.int Web site: www.euro.who.int